Camping at Pike Lake 1917-1956

In 1917, Acting Captain, Mrs. Emily Gould, took a group of Girl Guides to the first camp at Pike Lake. They used
a local cottage and a few tents. A group of women from Girl Guides and the Boy Scouts Association made plans
to build a hut at Pike Lake on the Motor Club property. Teas and Tag Days were held to raise funds and the
IODE (a Canadian women’s charitable organization that has been serving Canada since 1900) and local
merchants contributed. The Girl Guides and Boy Scouts both used the Hut for some years until the Boy Scouts

moved to Beaver Creek.
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MOVING THE OLD HUT

Around 1925, plans for a golf course at Pike Lake were beginning and the Girl Guides were asked to move the
Hut, as it was on the side of the first fairway and very dangerous. It was 1930 before this was done, but the
land was taken over by the local cottagers and called the Lakeside Country Club. Frank Martin owned the
quarter section south of the Club property and offered to lease the property to the Girl Guides for $S40 per
year. After his death a few years later, the property reverted back to the Hudson’s Bay Company. The
camping committee tried to negotiate with the HBC Land Development office hoping to purchase a few acres
of land. They were not able to purchase land, but did receive a reduced rate on their lease.
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Star Phoenix Article May 21, 1931
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ot PATROL DUTY
" 'For the purpose of dividing equal-
Iy the d Iyl-pdutics, the \%or is
divided amorig the girls, so that
eech patrol has a different duty
daily, the easy days alternating
with_the hard ones. Numbers per-
"mitting; five patrols is the ideal
number at camp, then the duties
are: cook, orderly, sanitary, mes-|
sengers and mess-orderlies. If the|
camp is sufficiently large, there is
8 spare patrol, which has a “day
off,” and whose chief concern is
looking after the entertainment of |
the camp for the day, or getting
up a stunt for the campfire.

A Guide's day at camp begins at |
7 am. when she rises promptiy—
let us hope—at the sound of the
Captain's whistle. In some camps
there is a .'tm'.nminfh dip, but in all
camps, B.45 sees e Company in
full uniform, assembled for the rais-
ing of the colors. Prayers follow,
and then breakfast. “Chores” come R AN S\ 1956
after, and at 9.30, inspection of beds
and camp. During the next hour or 1932
g0, some part of Guide work is un-
dertaken—signalling, first aid, the
compass, heights and distances, or
work in connection with one of the
out-of-door badges, Nature Lover’s,
Hiker's, etc. Everyone then makes
ready for the first swim of the day,
and when all are back from the
beach and again in tidy uniform,
the cocks—those self-sacrificing
ladies, who have had to miss their
fi1st swim—sing, or shout, or whis-
tle (on the official instrument, of}
course) that dinner is ready, which -
fnvitation everyone accepts.

Rest hour comes between two and
three o'clock, when each girl is re-

uired. to lie down for one hour

he may read one of the many jolly
books brought out to camp, she may
, write, or study up her badge work,
but keep silence she must., After
the afiernoon swim, there Is free
time until supper, about half past
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A New Home - BP Lodge

In the 1950s it became clear the Girl Guides needed a new home at Pike Lake.
The old Hut had a leaking roof and there were ‘many mice and mosquitoes’.

The Kiwanis Club of Saskatoon
provided the funds to build the
new lodge, which was built on the
same location as the old Hut,
overlooking Pike Lake.

The building was estimated to cost
$15,000 and took almost 2 years
for the building to be complete. Girl
Guides had a 99 year lease on the
grounds where the building was
erected.
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BP Lodge Opening - July 1956

BP Lodge, named after the founder of the
Scouting and Guiding movement, Lord Robert
Baden-Powell, was officially open in July 1956.
The ‘hut’, as it was referred to in its early days,
was financed by the Saskatoon Kiwanis Club
and building was starting in 1955. The
common room, large kitchen, dining room, and
the staff quarters were built the first year and
the dormitory side was erected in 1956.
of the Kiwanis Club, Mr. Hub

BP Lodge officia bening July956 President
presented the keys to Mrs. Ferguson, President of the Girl Guides Association
in July of 1956 with dozens of Kiwanis and Guiding members on hand. Later
that year, a septic system, electric power and, running water were installed.
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Kiwanians Present Key to Girl Guide Hut
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tents, for a provincial camp will
‘be there making preparations for
the World Jamboree which will
take place in Ontario in 1957. This
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‘ever to be held at Pike Lake and
‘elaborate plans are being made
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ito Witness the opening ceremonies.
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. Iergusson, president of the
Girl Guide Association, who ex-
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the wing with kitchen, dining area,
officers’ quarters and sick bay and
this year - the sleeping ' quarters
and wash rooms were added. It
had been a long procedure, he
said, but a gratifying one and he
paid tribute to several Kiwanians,
who had fostered the idea three
years ago and kept the club en-||
thused. This: year a septic system,
electric’ power and running: water
had been’ installed and, .as presi-
dent of the Lakeside Country, Club,
he also mentioned that the club
had granted the Guide Association
a 99-year lease on the grounds.
- Greetings from - the Boy 'Scout(
|Association were given by the
leommissioner, Mr, L. H. Tooley,|
while Mrs, W, T, Mallory, provin-
cial Girl Guide commissioner, ex-
pressed her delight at the new
camp and- told of the use to which
it wouid' be put this summer,
. | This week the Brunskill and St.

James’ - Guides under -the leader-
<hip of Miss Betty Mauchel will be
cam:p and next week the sur-

Star Phoenix article July 8, 1956
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BP Lodge - Early Days




BP Lodge

BP Lodge has seen many changes over the years.
When the lodge first opened, the common room
had an open ceiling and there were wooden
floors and very little insulation throughout the
building. The main kitchen had a wood burning
stove.

A small deck was installed in 1981, but the full
sized deck was not installed until 1989, and the
ramp was added in the early ‘90s. In the summer
of 2013, major repairs were done to fix the deck
after a particularly snowy winter.

In 1983, a new well was dug to accommodate the addition of water taps near
the outbuildings around camp.

In 1992, the main kitchen, which was referred to as the ‘winter’ kitchen, had a
major renovation. New cupboards, sinks, and hot water tank were installed and
new appliances were purchased. The kitchen already had an electric stove, but
the old wood stove was officially moved out. That same year, the smaller
‘summer’ kitchen, saw the installation of plumbing, hot water tank, cupboards
and appliances.

In 2012, the ‘Raise the Roof’ campaign was held, raising almost $20,000; and a
new, metal roof was installed on the building. The next summer, in 2013, new
flooring was installed in both kitchens and dining rooms, a new water pump was
installed and volunteers from Airline Hotels, through the United Way’s Day of
Caring, gave the entire outside of the building a fresh coat of paint.

Lodge kitchen &
dining room, 1960s

-~

Lodge kitchen & dining room, 1956




BP Lodge Winterization

In the early days, BP Lodge was often referred to as the ‘Brownie Hut’, Nyeri as the
‘Guide Hut’, and Pathways as the ‘Pathfinder Hut’.

Win Parker wrote when she first started camping in the early 70s, ‘all the
equipment for camping on #1 (Nyeri) and #2 (Pathways) sites was stored in the
storage room at the lodge (now the dorm side kitchen). We carried tents, a large
patrol box with pots and pans, garbage cans, etc. to the first shelter, which had no
kitchen addition then. The fridges were in the storage room too. At the end of
camp all equipment had to go back. This was hard work.’

From the early days at Pike Lake, girls of all ages would spend weeks at a time in
the summer at Girl Guide camp. In the early 1980s, it was clear that camping was
changing. It was harder to find volunteers to staff camps all summer and the
camping committee decided to update the facilities to meet the changing needs-
winterization! Up to that point, the lodge had been heated with an oil furnace
which was difficult to light and had a pilot light that had a tendency to blow out in
a draft.

The work was done in three phases as money became available. The walls, floors
and ceiling were insulated, windows replaced the old screens and wooden shutters,
the brick siding was replaced with cedar, doors were replaced, and electric heaters
were installed. Phase | of winterization was the large dorm rooms and small
kitchen, phase Il included the common room and staff quarters, and phase Il was
the kitchen/dining room wing and a large electrical upgrade.

Winterization was a leap of faith. The camp committee hoped that the time and
money was well spent and it was; the camp was booked solid throughout the
winter months! Between 1979 and 1985 over $28,000 was spent winterizing BP
Lodge and over $17,000 was spent adding septic tanks, electricity and water lines
to Nyeri and establishing the campsite at Pathways; a total of over $45,000!




Final Move & A New Name

In 1964, BP lodge was moved from its home near the lake to its current location.

Star Phoenix article 1964

Trefoll Tralls

In 1992, Saskatoon Area held a contest to create a new name for the camp at Pike
Lake. Trefoil Trails was announced as the winner in April 1992,

Marj Martens, a long-time member, who camped at the old Guiding site in the
1930s, came up with the name. The word Trefoil was a special word to Marj, and
she combined it with the
word trails that reminded
her of all the memorable,
happy trails at the
campsite. The two words
together, ‘Trefoil Trails’ just
sounded right as a tribute
to Guiding.
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BP Lodge Through the Years

Baden Powell Lodge — August 2012
as new roof is being installed

Baden Powell Lodge — Spring 2007



BP Lodge Through the Years

BP Lodge as it is now



BP Lodge

Inside BP Lodge 1992

Front of BP Lodge 1978 Back of BP Lodge late 1970s

Leader training at BP Lodge 1984



BP Lodge




BP Lodge - We used to have a PoolI

An above ground pool was installed in
1984.

It cost just over $2800 to install the pool
and the deck and fencing around it.
Filling the pool often emptied the well,
so water had to be delivered.

For many vyears, a lifeguard was
employed for the summer months —
some people still refer to the small
bedroom in the lodge as the ‘lifeguard
room’.

The pool was removed in the early 90s.
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Pixie Glen

In 1986, the Saskatoon Kiwanis Club once again supported
camp, helping to build 3 sleeping huts known as Pixie Glen.
The cabins were purchased as prefabricated kits for $1000
each. Girl Guides could only afford to purchase two cabins
that year so the Kiwanis Club purchased a third and club
volunteers built them.

The huts have remained largely the same since they were |
built. Power was added in 1988 and in 2015, Cosmopolitan |
International Service Club re-shingled all three huts and |
the next year installed vinyl siding. The hut doors are still
painted pink, orange and blue to represent Sparks, |
Brownies and Guides.

Minutes from a meeting in 1992 show that there were
plans to build a fourth hut.




Nyeri

The shelter at Nyeri was built in 1970 with funds from the Saskatoon Kiwanis
Club; the shelter cost $2000. When the shelter was first built, campers used large
screens and canvas on the ‘windows’ of the shelter to protect themselves from
weather. In 1979, the kitchen addition was completed for $1000. Electricity was
added the same year, and water lines and a septic tank were added so the latrine
could be built. Additional lights and electrical outlets were added to the shelter
in 2016. In June 2017, volunteers from CNH Industrial, through the United Way
Day of Caring, painted the shelter inside and out and cleared trails.

In June 2014, volunteers from SaskEnergy, through the United Way Day of Caring,
helped give the latrine building a facelift; painting the inside and outside.
Volunteers from the camp committee also worked on the shelter that year
finishing painting, replacing screening and fixing doors.

In 1981, four platform tents were built near the
main campfire pit. The platforms remained
until the late 2000s. Today, campers can put
up old Baby Bell and Ridgeline tents to get a
taste of ‘heritage’ camping.

Nyeri is named for Nyeri, Kenya, where
Lord Baden-Powell is buried.










Pathways

o,

The Pathways site was established in 1980 to give
older campers a more ‘rustic’ camping
experience. The shelter was built the first year but
a roof was too expensive. Win Parker recalled,
“We could only afford the bottom half and the
rafters. For the roof we used spare canvas.
Guiders went out one day, climbed up onto the
rafters, and made good use of their knotting skills
to secure the canvas roof. This served for two
seasons (with several leaks) until we could afford
the proper roof.” Water and septic were added in
1982 and an outhouse was built.

In 2014, the old outhouse was torn down and a
new one was built.

The roof was replaced on the shelter in 2011;
2015 major repairs occurred and the shelter was
painted.




Other Stuff Around Camp

In 1980, the garage was purchased.
When taking some tents in for a repair,
the company doing the repairs had a
garage for sale for $600. The operating
committee had an impromptu meeting
at the Dairy Queen and decided to buy it.
A new garage door was built a few years
ago.

The City of Saskatoon donated 30 bikes
to camp in 1980 and they were used until
the late 90s.

A new winter outhouse was built near
the lodge in 1996 with support from the
United Way.

In June 2013, Trefoil Trails and Bridging
Rivers Area hosted the Girl Guides of
Canada Chief Commissioner, in an event
called ‘Bridging with the Chief’.

In 1979, the Saskatoon Area Camp
Committee formed a new ‘Camp
Operating Committee’ that was
responsible for maintenance and
improvements at camp. The regular
camp committee continued to plan
camps and hold trainings. The first
camp operating committee had 5
members.
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2017 - 100 Year Celebrations
& Legacy Gazebo

2017 marked 100 years that Girl Guides have been camping at
Pike Lake! To celebrate this milestone a celebration
committee was formed and various activities were planned. A
special crest and shirt could be ordered with the 100 Year
Celebration design. The provincial Rally Packages featured
‘heritage’ style activities and a large sign was put up for the
summer near the gates of the Pike Lake Provincial Park.

The committee also decided to build something permanent
on-site as a legacy project. It was decided that a large 16'x16’
gazebo would be built near the main fire pit on the Nyeri site.
Over $7000 was raised through a fundraising dinner, a paint
night, direct donations, and support from the Trefoil Trails
Camp Operating Committee and Provincial Council.

After months of planning, fundraising, and approval seeking,
the gazebo was builtin July. An official opening ceremony was
held August 26, 2017.
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